

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Beyond the Basics: Educating Nurses at the Bedside About Evidence-Based Practice

Katherine D. Simpson Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Nursing Commons, and the Public Health Education and Promotion Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Nursing

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Katherine Denise Simpson

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Joan Moon, Committee Chairperson, Nursing Faculty Dr. Susan Hayden, Committee Member, Nursing Faculty Dr. Barbara Gross, University Reviewer, Nursing Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost

Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University

2022

Abstract

Beyond the Basics: Educating Nurses at the Bedside About Evidence-Based Practice

by

Katherine D. Simpson

MSN, Walden University, 2016 BS, Northern Kentucky University, 1985

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Nursing Practice

Walden University

August 2022

Abstract

The nursing profession is a large and dynamic part of the healthcare industry with the greatest percentage of nurses practicing at the bedside. An increase in nursing professionalism with evidence-based practice has emerged over the past several decades. However, evidence continues to support a lack of knowledge among registered nurses in implementing evidencebased patient care at the bedside and the need for education related to evidence-based practice. The analysis, design, development, implementation, and evaluation model of instructional design framed this Doctor of Nursing Practice project. The purpose of the project was to fill the practice gap through the planning, implementation, and evaluation of an education program on evidencebased practice for 14 nurses who provide care at the bedside. Evaluation of the curriculum by three content experts using 1 = met and 2 = unmet resulted in a mean of 1, showing that all objectives had been met. Content validity for the pretest/posttest items resulted in a score of .96, indicating a high level of validity. Evidence produced by the project included a change in knowledge for the group that ranged from 75% on the pretest to 83% on the posttest, an 8-point (11%) improvement with individual scores ranging from 9 to 14/15 for the pretest and 10 to 15/15 for the posttest. Using a Likert scale, evaluation of the program objectives by the 14 participants showed that 13 rated the program as a 4 (high) and one a 3 (moderately high). Comments included positive responses related to the program with no recommendations. Evidence-based interventions delivered to patients will result in more effective and efficient care that may decrease emergency room visits, readmissions, and overall healthcare costs, which will also result in positive social change.

Beyond the Basics: Educating Nurses at the Bedside About Evidence-Based Practice

by

Katherine D. Simpson

MSN, Walden University, 2016

BS, Northern Kentucky University, 1985

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Nursing Practice

Walden University

August 2022

Acknowledgments

I want to dedicate this work to my children, and grandchildren, and all other family and friends that have provided prayers and their support. I want to thank my preceptors that took the time to share their knowledge and expertise. Special thanks to Dr. Joan Moon for her steadfast guidance and words of wisdom.

Section 1: Nature of the Project1
Introduction1
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement4
Nature of the Doctoral Project5
Sources of Evidence
Approach6
Significance
Summary9
Section 2: Background and Context
Introduction9
The ADDIE Model10
Relevance to Nursing Practice11
Local Background and Context14
My Role15
Role of the Project CEs17
Summary
Section 3: Collection and Analysis of Evidence
Introduction19
Practice-Focused Questions

Table of Contents

Sources of Evidence	20
Evidence Generated to Address Practice-Focused Questions	20
Evidence Generated by the Doctoral Project	21
Analysis and Synthesis	24
Curriculum Plan Evaluation by CEs Summary	24
Pretest/Posttest Content Expert Validity Scale Analysis	24
Summary of the Evaluation of the Staff Education Program by Participants	25
Pretest/Posttest Change in Knowledge Results by Participants	25
Summary Evaluation Results of the Staff Education Project by CEs	25
Summary	25
Section 4: Findings and Recommendations	27
Introduction	27
Findings and Implications	28
Curriculum Plan Evaluation by CEs Summary	28
Pretest/Posttest Content Expert Validity Scale Analysis	28
Summary of the Evaluation of the Staff Education Program by Participants	29
Pretest/Posttest Change in Knowledge Results by Participants	29
Summary Evaluation Results of the Staff Education Project by CEs	30
Recommendations	30
Contribution of the Doctoral Project Team	30
Strengths and Limitations	30

Summary
Section 5: Dissemination Plan
Analysis of Self
Practitioner
Scholar
Project Manager
Summary
References
Appendix A: Assessment, Design, Development, Implementation, and Evaluation
(ADDIE) Model of Instructional Design
Appendix B: Literature Review Matrix
Appendix C: Curriculum Plan
Appendix D: Curriculum Plan Evaluation by Content Experts
Appendix E: Pretest Posttest75
Appendix F: Pretest/Posttest Content Validation by Content Experts
Appendix G. Pre/Posttest Content Expert Validity Index Scale Analysis
Appendix H: Staff Education Program
Appendix I: Evaluation of the Staff Education Program by Participants101
Appendix J: Content Expert Letter
Appendix K: Curriculum Plan Evaluation by Content Experts Summary103
Appendix L: Pre/Posttest Content Expert Validity Index Scale Analysis105

Appendix M: Pretest/Posttest Change in Knowledge Results by Participants1	106
Appendix N: Summary of the Evaluation of the Staff Education Program by	
Participants1	107

Appendix O: Summary Evaluation of the Staff Education Project by CEs.....108

Section 1: Nature of the Project

Introduction

The nursing profession is a large and dynamic part of the healthcare industry with the greatest percentage of nurses practicing at the bedside where their primary role is providing care to patients and support to family members (Bowles et al., 2018; Luck et al., 2016; Peiro et al., 2020). In the 19th and early 20th century, the nursing care model was developed from a militaristic framework, the physician was always the lead and nurses were expected to adhere to an unquestioning and obedient behavior (Beaird, 2019). Regular contribution to bedside care and inquiry have not been traditionally associated with the nursing profession (Beaird, 2019). An increase in nursing professionalism with evidence-based practice has emerged to end this nursing model. However, a tendency exists for nurses to rely on old habits and inconsistently use evidence from the literature to deliver the best patient care (Jeffs et al., 2013). Textbooks for clinical practice provided in nurses' undergraduate work become outdated in a few years due to multiple versions, submission deadlines, and actual publication dates (Raiganim et al., 2019).

With today's monetary stresses and constraints present in the healthcare industry, nurse clinicians are mandated by payors to provide care that is evidence-based, quality-driven, and economically sound (Michael & Clochesy, 2016). The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) created the Medicare Access and Children's Health Insurance Program (CHIP) Reauthorization Act (MACRA) in 2016, which is a pay-for-performance rule that requires healthcare providers to demonstrate through documentation that they are providing evidencebased care for patients (Haycock et al., 2016). In meeting these requirements, registered nurses (RNs) are obligated to document their care in electronic medical records (EMRs). In the event RNs are not documenting care that is evidence-based, patients are likely to experience subpar health outcomes and the facility will pay CMS fines, lose Medicare and Medicaid dollars, and most likely see decreasing third party payors (Haycock et al., 2016). These actions constitute CMS clinical practice improvement activity (CPIA; Haycock et al., 2016), and RNs at the bedside could become more responsible for the implementation of increased communication with patients and utilization of current practice trends (Amey et al., 2017). Examples of areas for clinical improvement activity that are pay for performance include the prevention of decubitus ulcers, proper antibiotic use, and disaster management (McIntosh et al., 2016).

The public is becoming more aware of the safety and care issues for the hospitalized patient because of publications such as those from the Institute of Medicine (IOM; Williams et al., 2015), where the reports "To Err is Human: Building a Safer Health System", "Crossing the Quality Chasm: A New Health System for the 21st Century", and "The Future of Nursing: Leading Change, Advancing Health" explained the status of healthcare in the United States. Evidence-based practices have been shown to optimize patient health outcomes and to contribute to improved quality care (Williams et al., 2015). Nurses at the bedside must implement evidence-based practices to achieve optimal health outcomes and begin inquiries to solve clinical problems (Williams et al., 2015). Studies support the need for nurses to become more proficient in seeking and utilizing evidence-based information in their practices (Farokhzadian et al., 2015); however, barriers exist to accessing and studying new trends in evidence-based practices (Amey et al., 2017; Stevens, 2013). The lack of knowledge exists concerning evidence-based approaches, limited understanding about searching the literature and research appraisal, as well as a lack of general academic preparedness (Stevens, 2013; Williams et al., 2015).

As chair of the research committee for the perianesthesia nurses' organization in my state, I monitor the educational needs of our members who work in facilities with ambulatory care, preoperative, and postoperative nursing care. After each educational presentation, we conduct surveys on how we can better serve our members. One of the topics that the nurses requested to learn more about was implementation of evidence-based practice at the bedside.

The profession of nursing is responsible for promotion of the common good for individuals and all communities the profession serves (Jairath et al., 2006). In the case of this project, a common good to be achieved was promotion of the health of individuals, families, and communities through the implementation of evidence-based care. Evidence-based care delivered to patients will result in more efficient care that could decrease hospital admissions, hospital stays, decrease trips to the emergency room, and decrease overall healthcare costs, which could also result in positive social change.

Problem Statement

The problem identified for this Doctor of Nursing Practice (DNP) project was the lack of knowledge of RNs in implementing evidence-based patient care at the bedside. As stated previously, surveys taken at the organizational meetings of the state in which this project was presented showed that perianesthesia nurses communicated a need to learn more about evidence-based information to better inform their practice. As well, the literature supported this need and identified barriers which prevent RNs from acquiring the knowledge to properly put EBP to clinical use (Weiss et al., 2018). Among these barriers are lack of support from facility and organizational leadership, lack of financial support, and the lack of time (Friesen et al., 2017, Williams et al., 2015). RNs have a professional obligation to remain professionally and academically current, as well as provide evidence-based care to patients. In specialized areas, this obligation is just as important and, depending upon the area of specialization, there may be continuously new and evolving technology to learn (Farokhzadian et al., 2015). This project has

the potential to support patient care and safety as RNs will be likely more apt to know and apply evidence-based care. The significance of this project to nursing care is that the participants will be able to increase their professional knowledge base, as well as implement current, evidencebased care to patients and their families.

Purpose Statement

Currently, RNs do not routinely access, study, or readily implement evidence-based information to support their bedside practice (Saunders & Vehvilanen-Julkunen, 2016), which implies a gap in practice where the literature shows that nursing research used at the bedside promotes better patient outcomes (Saunders & Vehvilanen-Julkunen, 2016). The practicefocused questions that guided this project were as follows:

- What evidence from the literature supports the use of evidence-based research by nurses at the patient bedside? and
- Will there be a change in knowledge on evidence-based practice from pretest to posttest upon implementation of the educational program?

Therefore, the purpose of this staff education for evidence-based practice development (SEED) project was to fill the gap in practice through the planning, implementation, and evaluation of the SEED program on evidence-based practice for nurses who provide patient care at the bedside.

Many perianesthesia RNs experience a gap in knowledge in accessing and implementing evidence-based care at the bedside. The problem identified for this DNP project was RNs' lack of knowledge in implementing evidence-based practice at the bedside. Institutionalized barriers prevent RNs from acquiring the knowledge to properly put EBP to clinical use (Weiss et al., 2018). Among these barriers are lack of support from facility and organizational leadership, lack of financial support, and the lack of time (Friesen et al., 2017; Rahmayanti et al., 2020; Williams et al., 2015). RNs have a professional obligation to remain professionally and academically current, as well as provide evidence-based care to patients. In specialized areas, this obligation is just as important and depending upon the area of specialization there will be continuously new and evolving technology to learn (Farokhzadian et al., 2015; Stucky et al., 2020; Zittel et al., 2016). Additionally, surveys taken at the organizational meetings of the state in which this project was presented showed that perianesthesia nurses communicated a need to learn more about evidence-based information to better inform their practice. The American Association of Colleges of Nursing (AACN, 2019) Essential VI – "Improving Patient and Population Outcomes" was addressed as the increased implementation of evidence-based care decreases hospital admissions and healthcare costs (Weiss et al., 2018). This doctoral project has the potential to address the gap in practice by providing EBP strategies to RNs who practice at the bedside.

Nature of the Doctoral Project

Sources of Evidence

The evidence produced to support the project came from a review of the literature, which provided an overview of what previous researchers have discovered about nurses' implementation of evidence-based research into clinical practice. The Walden University Library databases I used to search for relevant literature were CINAHL, ProQuest, Medline, and PubMed, whereas websites searched included the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), National Institutes of Health (NIH), American Society of PeriAnesthesia Nurses (ASPAN), the Analysis, Design, Development, Implementation Evaluation (ADDIE) model, and Texas Association of PeriAnesthesia Nurses (TAPAN). The date range included 2015 through 2022 with three earlier studies (i.e., Jairath, 2006; Jeffs et al., 2013; Stevens, 2013) being used only because they provided seminal information. Evidence generated for the doctoral project came from evaluation of the curriculum plan, content validation of the pretest/posttest, evaluation of the educational program presentation, and change in knowledge from pretest to posttest.

Approach

Within the planning, implementation, and evaluation steps outlined in the Walden University *Manual for Staff Education*, I incorporated the phases of the ADDIE instructional design model for the project (Jeffery et al., 2016; see Appendix A).

Planning Step

Planning the SEED project involved the analysis, design, and development phases of the ADDIE model (see Appendix A). My project has been discussed and approved by my chair. The state perianesthesia nursing organization provided the site agreement, as the partner organization, and served as the continuing education provider. The organizational leadership is very engaged in the continuing education of the members to promote the health of patients and the general public. The perianesthesia organization is also committed to the personal and professional growth of the members. The local state component of the national organization where this presentation took place demonstrates the commitment of attendees' professional growth by offering a presentation with continuing education units at monthly meetings.

The SEED project was accomplished by conducting a literature search and selecting the content experts (CEs). The Literature Review Matrix (see Appendix B) was ongoing throughout the development and planning phases for the development of the objectives and curriculum. An assessment of the studies was performed using the grading criteria from Fineout et al. (2010). I developed a curriculum consisting of the objectives, content, evidence, method of presentation,

and evaluation. A pretest/posttest was developed by me from the curriculum questions and were reviewed by a PhD who specialized in test construction. I obtained Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval through Walden University after the committee approved the SEED project and the proposal went forward to the URR.

The CEs conducted formative evaluation of the curriculum and content validation of the pretest/posttest during the planning step before implementation with appropriate revisions. Program objectives were

- Define evidence-based practice.
- Discuss the components of evidence-based practice.
- Identify gaps in knowledge.
- Identify barriers to evidence-based inquiry.
- Discuss strategies to expand evidence practices.

Implementation Step

After the final curriculum/pretest/posttest revisions were approved, the implementation phase of the ADDIE model in this step commenced with promotion of the event, finalizing the program related to date, place, and promoting the presentation. I created a slide presentation using Microsoft PowerPoint that was part of the monthly organization meeting. I presented the program to organizational leadership, as well as the participant members. Impact evaluations were completed for the educational program by the participants, and the impact of the knowledge obtained by the participants was evaluated as well using the comparative scores of the pretests and posttests.

Evaluation Step

The evaluation phase of the SEED project uncovers issues that may need further attention (Jeffrey et al., 2016). The SEED project evaluation had three components. The first was during the planning step where the formative evaluation of the curriculum plan was completed by CEs who also validated the content of the pretest/posttest items. The second component was impact evaluations gathered in the implementation step including the evaluation of the staff education and the pretest/posttest change in knowledge of the participants. Finally, upon completion of the entire project, the CEs performed a summary evaluation of the project, process, and my leadership.

Significance

The major stakeholders are the CEs, participants of the program, and ultimately the patients. The CEs are impacted by gathering additional experience as well as fulfilling their professional obligation to advance the profession via the dissemination of knowledge. The participants are impacted as they will increase their professional knowledge to provide evidence-based care. Providing the RNs with strategies will promote the nursing profession and increase routine implementation of EBP at the bedside (Fisher et al., 2016) as they learn the skills to identify and understand the literature and incorporate best practices at the bedside. As well, they might be able to play a leadership role in taking the information back to the nurses in their facilities. The patients of the RN participants would experience more evidence-based care.

I plan to share the SEED program with education committees and RNs from other hospitals and professional nursing organizations to share with their nurses while using the continuing education approval of the perianesthesia group. All RNs are expected to incorporate evidence-based practice into their settings. The SEED program may be adaptable to other care settings as the program serves that expectation. The project has the potential to be used in facility orientation modules, as well as in undergraduate nursing curricula. In decreasing the barriers to evidence-based studies, information, and practice strategies, the SEED project can serve as a social change agent, support optimal patient care, and population health through the implementation of current evidence-based practices rendered by RNs at the bedside thus improving the human condition.

Summary

In Section 1, I presented a historical perspective of nursing that addressed a task-orientedonly role for nurses. Framed within the ADDIE model and following the steps for development of the project found in the Walden University Manual for Staff Education, the Staff Education Evidence-based project Development (SEED) project was guided by the practice-focused project questions to address the gap in practice of RNs not using evidence-based practice at the bedside when the literature demonstrates the effectiveness of doing so for patient outcomes. The significance of this DNP project to nursing is that stakeholders will be able to provide up-to-date, evidence-based care to patients and their families.

In Section 2, the ADDIE model will be further explored and will address how the model will be used with the SEED project. The relevance of this project to nursing will be addressed and how the relevance impacts the stakeholder participants within their facilities. A description of my role as the leader of the project and the CEs' role will complete Section 2.

Section 2: Background and Context

Introduction

The problem identified for this DNP project is the lack of knowledge of RNs in implementing evidence-based practice at the bedside. The purpose of this SEED project is to fill the gap in practice through the planning, implementation, and evaluation of an evidence-based continuing education program on evidence-based practice for nurses who provide patient care at the bedside. The practice-focused questions which guided this project were as follows:

- What evidence from the literature supports the use of evidence-based research by nurses at the patient bedside?
- Will there be a change in knowledge on evidence-based practice from pretest to posttest upon implementation of the educational program?

The significance of this project to the nursing profession will be demonstrated as the project will promote patient care through the enhancement of professional nursing via evidence-based practices. This project addressed the practice-focused questions and RNs' gap in knowledge concerning evidence-based practice (EBP) through the ADDIE model, and how the model relates to nursing practice. Section 2 will provide local background and context, as well as explain my role in the project.

The ADDIE Model

The selected model to be used for the SEED project is the ADDIE model (see Appendix A), which is an adaptation of systems engineering process to implement training and educational activities (Hsu et al., 2011). Originally developed by the Center for Educational Technology at Florida State University for United States Army (O'Leary, 2017), the ADDIE model has been used as a template to design nursing education programs (Jeffrey et al., 2016). The model has five phases: analysis, design, development, implementation, and evaluation. The analysis phase is used to gather information about interests, needs, and resources. The design phase is used to determine how the information of the project will be laid out, allowing the researcher to create the project blueprint. The development phase is used to mold the information into a concise

product. The implementation phase presents the information to the end users. At this stage in the process, the program is disseminated to the end users and their learning is determined (Jeffery et al., 2016). Evaluation involves an assessment of the importance and applicability of the program to the end users. The translation of knowledge has been proven to increase the use of evidence-based information (Weiss et al., 2018).

The ADDIE model has been proven to be successful with teaching nurses to learn and implement a nursing information system (NIS; Lu et al., 2016). Lu et al. (2016) wanted to determine if the early integration of the NIS in the orientation of new nurses was beneficial. Before the new nurses were exposed to the NIS, a pretest was given address self-efficacy. The overall score was reported to be 88%. After the nurses completed their training program, the overall posttest score was reported to be 100%. The ADDIE model was instrumental in relaying information to new nursing professionals, as well for RNs advancing their professional knowledge base (Curtis et. al, 2017; Hsu et.al, 2014). This model will provide a blueprint to relaying information and increase the relevance of the project to nursing.

Relevance to Nursing Practice

The knowledge deficit within the general nursing profession is the result of constant barriers. Barriers that have created this knowledge deficit have been identified as lack of support from institutional and facility leaders, lack of financial resources and the lack of time (Aljezawi et al., 2019; ANA, n. d.; Rahmayanti et al., 2020; Williams et al., 2015). To ensure that patients and the public are provided the most current evidence-based practices, RNs need all aspects of support to remain abreast of new information (Friesen et al., 2017; Rahmayanti et al., 2020). The literature supports that patient and the public experience optimal health outcomes when nurses responsible for their care implement evidence-based practices (Black et al., 2015; Crable et al., 2021; Rahmayanti et al., 2020).

Broader issues exist within nursing practice. The barriers that have been previously mentioned, are accompanied by decreased accessibility to, and increasing costs for healthcare services (Melnyk et al., 2019). In addition to these matters, RNs experience a knowledge deficit concerning accessing, interpreting, and explaining research that relates evidence-based strategies for patient care (Crable et al., 2021, McIntosh et al., 2016; Michael & Clochesy, 2016). Difficulty in understanding evidence-based information, along with other issues, prevent the routine use of EBP care. RNs have a professional obligation to continue their education to provide care using best practices (Bharat et al., 2015; Jantzen, 2022). Researchers have reported in their results that evidence-based practices support patients' overall health outcomes (Crable et al., 2021; Williams et al., 2015). There are severe consequences for facilities that do not demonstrate they are providing evidence-based care. CMS has imposed meaningful use parameters within the electronic medical record (EMR), a billing application that readily identifies evidence-based care and practices (Haycock et al., 2016). Therefore, if documentation does not reveal evidence-based care strategies and practices, the facility is financially penalized (Haycock et al., 2016).

Strategies to overcome barriers to learn about and implement evidence-based strategies vary. One such strategy is found within the shift from volume-based care to value-based care. Steps that have been implemented to facilitate this shift are the formulation of a team that has a specific project objective, conduct literature search, joint session review of the literature, assign team members particular articles for review, and appraisal performance. After these steps have been implemented the project team is in position to make practice changes and/or policy recommendations (Spruce, 2015; Stucky et al., 2020). Another strategy used by clinicians is systematically identifying gaps of implementation knowledge and addressing them with immediate corrective action (Wilkinson et al., 2018). Implementation of evidence-based strategies is a characteristic of the professionalism in nursing.

The professionalism within nursing has evolved to include evidence-based practice as the foundation (Crable et al., 2021; Stucky et al., 2020; Weaver et al., 2019). This historical evolution has produced an overall professional responsibility to implement evidence-based practice (Friesen et al., 2017; Stucky et al., 2020). Barriers to accessing and studying new trends in evidence-based practices remain (Friesen et al., 2017; Stucky et al., 2020). This project addressed these barriers to promote the regular implementation of evidence-based care at the bedside. Decreasing barriers and supporting RNs to access, study, and readily implement evidence-based care promotes the health of patients. (Crable et al., 2021; Weaver et al., 2019). Barriers decrease the implementation of evidence-based practice.

The practice problem is the knowledge deficit of RNs to routinely implement EBP at the bedside. Hendricks and Cope (2017) explained the general problem that exists among RNs is that when they access clinical research, they do not routinely bring that knowledge to their practice. The social aspect of this project concerning the relevance to general nursing practice is that evidence-based care will support the well-being of patients and the public.

This project is designed to promote evidence-based practice. The SEED DNP project is relevant to nursing practice and elevates clinical care for patients. An example of the positive influence of evidence-based practice on patient care is the use of oximeter alarms in the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU). Oxygenation levels in neonates with cardiac defects will most likely be 90% at best. RNs in the NICU must be aware of current EBP and the proper use of technology

needs of the physiologically challenged, underdeveloped neonate to properly care for these vulnerable patients (Blake, 2016).

Evidence-based care has been documented as well as demonstrated to improve patient care (Peiro et al., 2020). However, barriers exist that prevent and/or deter RNs from accessing, learning, and implementing evidence-based practice at the bedside (Crable et al., 2021). This project is relevant through the encouragement and promotion of evidence-based practice among RNs.

Local Background and Context

The genesis of this project began from written and verbal requests for education on evidence-based practice at the bedside for perianesthesia nurses after educational meetings. The requests were relayed via written messages in the comment sections on evaluation forms. RNs face challenges such as lack of time and resources when attempting to access and/or study research and current evidence-based practice trends. The evidence to answer the practice-focused questions will be addressed in Section 3.

ASPAN, the parent organization for the state group for which this project is being developed, is dedicated to the advancement of the members. ASPAN has instituted the use of virtual and in person meeting opportunities to allow members to attend. The educational makeup of the members ranges from the associate degree RN to DNP and PhD prepared nurses, nurse educators and nurse practitioners. To occupy an office at the local, state, or national levels, members must hold at least a bachelor's degree and an RN license. The different levels of member academic preparation and familiarity with evidence-based information and inquiry exposes a void in access, study, and implementation EBP. ASPAN has viable clinical inquiry and research committees to support the education of the members. ASPAN conducts activities to support clinical and academic scholarship to equip members to implement evidence-based care (ASPAN, 2019). These standards contribute to the relevance of my project to the nursing profession. The SEED presentation supports member education.

My Role

My role in the state perianesthesia nurses' association that is the supporting organization for this project is as the chairperson of the research and education committee. The main duty that comes with this role is to present educational activities for the members of the organization. I also have the obligation to continually gather information through research and collaboration to develop new care models; form policy, procedures, and legislation; and educate nurses to become more knowledgeable about evidence-based practice guidelines (Dols et al., 2017). As such, I identified the need for this DNP project via requests from perianesthesia nurses.

I am a certified nurse practitioner with the obligation to not only provide care to patients, but also to find solutions to clinical problems. As a legal nurse consultant, I examine healthcare guidelines, policies, and procedures. Other responsibilities are to identify and implement clinical change and to serve as an educator and leader within the nursing profession. I am responsible for promoting optimal health outcomes and finding solutions to clinical questions (Crable et al., 2021; Edwards et al., 2018). My role in this DNP project is to serve as an educator and change agent in clinical practice. My background is critical care and post anesthesia care. My most recent post anesthesia care unit (PACU) experience has occurred within the last year. I have held various leadership positions in the local, regional, and national perianesthesia organizations. In these positions, I have served in educator roles for perianesthesia nurses. I am motivated to pursue this topic because evidence-based best practices should be implemented for each individual seeking care.

A significant number of our members practice in Magnet hospitals. Facilities with Magnet designation have better patient outcomes and are interested to employ nurses who are certified in their specialty area (Altounji et al., 2019). Leaders of Magnet designated hospitals and health facilities advertises that they require their nursing staffs to use EBPs, as this claim or statement will be used as a marketing tool; the designation equals better patient care (Altounji et al., 2019). Nurses are vital to proper patient care as they institute EBP and satisfy requirements to receive Medicare and Medicaid funds for services rendered (McNeill, 2017). However, more facilities than not have institutionalized barriers that prevent RNs from acquiring the knowledge to properly put EBP to clinical use (Weiss et al., 2018). Nurses need strategies to constantly access and study evidence-based clinical information. This is the reason I have taken on the task of bringing EBP information to RNs who practice at the bedside. In this paper, I present the rationale for this project and the importance of implementing EBP at the bedside to RNs who are members of the state perianesthesia nurses' association.

This project is designed to address institutional and legislative policy change. Institutions that claim to support nurses with implementation of evidence-based practice must eliminate the barriers such as the lack of time, lack of support from leadership, and the lack of resources (Crable et al., 2021; Hweidi et al., 2017). Institutional policies that adamantly support nurse education must be in place to be instrumental in increasing the implementation of EBP at the bedside. The project created a blueprint for nurses to explain and present proven EBPs to colleagues and to the public. Legislative policies are needed to advance the flow of translational knowledge to maintain the health of the public (Jokiniemi et al., 2020). The AACN 2019

16

Position Statement (AACN, 2019) also supports that the education of the DNP candidate will include the ability to initiate, implement, and modify health policy. This level of education differs from that of baccalaureate or masters prepared nurses as the DNP candidate will be expected to lead in clinical implementation. Zaccagnini and White (2014) reported that the sole purpose of the DNP is to provide care in the clinical setting. The authors further explained that the DNP scholar has the capability to engage in research like the PhD scholar. Nurses who engage in any aspect of care may have valuable input to share in regard to patient care. I provided information from more of a clinical base (AACN, 2019). I also plan to pursue leadership roles in health care policy reform/revision and continue to actively take part in professional nursing organizations. No biases have been identified, nor are any anticipated.

Role of the Project CEs

CEs are persons who have expertise in a particular content area to analyze the strength and weakness of what is to be measured (Gray et al., 2017). Three CEs had the role of evaluating the curriculum to see if the objectives are met related to the evidence in the Literature Review Matrix and outlined in the curriculum. They validated the pretest/posttest items related to the objectives and curriculum. One has completed her DNP as well as her PhD degree. The second and third team experts have completed their DNP degree. These three team members include two family nurse practitioners and one psychiatric nurse practitioner. The family NPs are assistant professors at a local university. The collective experiences of the CEs as RNs who have practiced at the bedside, are experienced as clinical instructors in university nursing programs, and are currently advanced practice nurses gives them the knowledge to analyze the content of my project.

Summary

In Section 2, the ADDIE instructional design model was described in framing the steps in planning, implementing, and evaluating the SEED project. Evidence-based literature will drive the content of the project to answer the project questions in promoting the education of regional perianesthesia RNs who requested education on implementation of evidence-based practice at the bedside. My role in the SEED project is to plan and implement the project and complete the analysis and synthesis to report the findings and recommendations. The CEs provided evaluation of the curriculum and validation of the pretest/posttest. In Section 3, I will address the sources of evidence and describe the nature of the participants, how the SEED project was conducted, and how protection of the participants was maintained. Analysis and synthesis of the information generated will conclude the section.

Section 3: Collection and Analysis of Evidence

Introduction

The problem identified for this DNP project was the lack of knowledge of RNs in implementing evidence-based practice at the bedside. The purpose of this DNP project was to fill the gap in practice through the planning, implementation, and evaluation of an evidence-based continuing education program on evidence-based practice for nurses who provide patient care at the bedside. Section 2 revealed the ADDIE model that was be used as a blueprint to create the SEED project. The CEs' role assured the objectives of the presentation matched the content. The relevance to nursing was that this project addressed the knowledge deficit among RNs, which prevented their access, study, and therefore regular implementation of evidence-based practice. The content and background of this project was based upon requests from the local RN perianesthesia group for additional information about topics concerning evidence-based practice. My role in this project was to plan, implement, and evaluate the project. As an educator, I facilitated information to address the EBP knowledge gap of RNs who practice at the bedside.

In this section, I demonstrate the relevance of the practice-focused questions to the project. The sources of evidence that supported the project are explained, as well as how the information gathered from the pretest/posttest generated evidence for the project.

Practice-Focused Questions

The local problem relevant to this project was that perianesthesia nurses who practice at the bedside experience a knowledge gap in the use of evidence-based practice guidelines and the implementation of evidence-based practice. The gap in practice was the lack of knowledge by bedside nurses of evidence-based best nursing care while the literature shows the need of such knowledge to achieve better outcomes for patients. The practice-focused questions of the SEED project were

- What evidence from the literature supports the use of evidence-based research by nurses at the patient bedside?
- Will there be a change in knowledge from pretest to posttest upon implementation of the educational progress?

The purpose of this SEED project was to fill the gap in practice through the planning, implementation, and evaluation of a SEED program on evidence-based practice for nurses who provide patient care at the bedside. Alignment came from the literature supporting objectives, the curriculum, and test items. This purpose directly aligned with the practice-focused questions as the project addressed the gap in knowledge in the general implementation of EBP and care by RNs to patients.

Sources of Evidence

Evidence Generated to Address Practice-Focused Questions

Existing literature that supports the SEED project can be found in the Literature Review Matrix (see Appendix B). Databases that I used for this project were accessed via the Walden University Library. The databases were PubMed, ProQuest, Medline, and CINAHL while websites searched included the CDC, and the NIH. The national organization of perianesthesia nurses is ASPAN. The standards of practice from ASPAN and my state organization provided foundational information for this project as the standards promote research activities, encouraged academic advancement to assure evidence-based patient care.

Evidence Generated by the Doctoral Project

The quantitative evidence generated by the doctoral project came from the Curriculum Plan, the Pretest/Posttest, the Staff Education Program, and the Evaluation of the Project by the Content Experts using a thematic approach.

Participants

The participants of the project were RNs of the state perianesthesia nursing organization and the CEs. The RN participants were perianesthesia nurses who come from all areas of nursing. They were chosen because they requested information that covered topics that included evidence-based current practices. Although they were currently practicing in the perianesthesia area, the group was representative of the nursing profession. The CEs had experience as RNs and were practicing nurse practitioners. The CEs' participation involved their evaluation of the curriculum, validation of the pretest/posttest, and evaluation of my leadership, my process, and overall project. The participants were given an education presentation and a fifteen-item pretest/protest. Upon completion of the posttest, the participants evaluated the educational presentation.

Procedures

Templates used were developed by my chairperson for organizational purposes; therefore, there was no reliability nor validity needed.

Content Validity Index Score

The CEs used the Content Validity Index (CVI) to determine whether what was being measured was what the project aimed to measure (Polit & Beck, 2017). Content validity was measured by assessing the content of the presentation. The content validity correlated to the

objectives. CEs used a 4-point Likert scale to determine item content validity. The four areas of the scale were 1 = not relevant, 2 = somewhat relevant, 3 = quite relevant, 4 = highly relevant. *CE Packet*

The CE packet contained the following artifacts: A letter thanking them for their participation and explaining the contents and instructions (see Appendix J), the Literature Review Matrix (see Appendix B), the Curriculum Plan (see Appendix C), the Curriculum Plan Evaluation by the CEs (see Appendix D, the Pretest/Posttest (see Appendix E), and the Pretest/Posttest Content Validation by CEs (see Appendix F). The CEs evaluated the curriculum related to the objectives and literature and validated the pretest/posttest items for content validity. The procedure for assuring anonymity is described below.

Pretest/Posttest Change in Knowledge Results by Participants

The pretest was numbered and given to participants after formal introductions and before the actual presentation. The participants used the same number when completing a posttest after the presentation by my colleague. The posttest was collected by my colleague and placed in an envelope. My colleague presented the completed documents and hand delivered an envelope marked for completed pretests, an enveloped marked for completed posttests, and an envelope marked for completed evaluations. I was not present during the collection of the documents. Then, I analyzed and synthesized the results.

Evaluation of the Staff Education Program by Participants

Evaluation of the presentation began upon completion of the development of the Staff Education Program (see Appendix H), The Evaluation of the Staff Education Program by Participants (see Appendix I). The presentation was developed by me in accordance with the continuing education application. The evaluation of the program was centered around the delivery and application set forth in the presentation. The participants were asked to complete evaluation forms that asked whether the objectives of the program were met. The participants had the opportunity to rank their answers 1 (low) to 4 (high), as well as to answer "yes" or "no" for each question of the presentation. A comment section was provided at the bottom of the evaluation form for comments. Anonymity was accomplished via a numbering system. The participants were anonymous.

Evaluation of the Staff Education Project, Process, and My Leadership by CEs

This evaluation was sent to the CEs for completion. The results of the CEs were summarized and presented in the Summary of the Staff Education Project by CEs (see Appendix O) then sent by my colleague to the CEs. The form requested that the CEs evaluate the project, process, and my leadership. The CEs anonymously returned the forms to my colleague. She placed them in new, unmarked envelopes and hand delivered the envelopes to me.

Protection

The CEs completed the curriculum evaluation and content validation aspects of the project anonymously. They were numerically coded in chronological order. Course participants were assigned numbers for the pretest and posttest. The results for participants will be secured under lock and key for 5 years. The documents will then be shredded.

The Walden University IRB (07-27-21-0166164) for Staff Education Doctoral Projects ethical approval was sought using pre-approval guidelines. Upon completion of the proposal defense, I applied for IRB approval using Form A as directed in the Manual for Staff Education. Site approval was verbally granted. A written site approval was obtained upon the acceptance of this proposal.

Analysis and Synthesis

The evaluation results of the CEs were analyzed by me with descriptive analysis. The collected pretest and posttest results were reported as percentage of correct answered. There was a comment section for the member participants to provide comments about the presentation as well as suggest topics that they would like the organization to present for future educational activities.

Curriculum Plan Evaluation by CEs Summary

A dichotomous scale using *met* and *not met* was used by the CEs. I analyzed this information using descriptive statistics, giving the mean of the responses (see Appendix K).

Pretest/Posttest Content Expert Validity Scale Analysis

Validity is a process that tells the researcher that results are measuring what actually is sought to be measured. (Polit & Beck, 2017). The item content validity index (I-CVI) was used to assess item validity. The I-CVI allowed the CEs to examine items, their relevance to the objectives, and curriculum items using a Likert scale where 1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = agree, and 4 = strongly agree (Polit & Beck, 2017). The I-CVI was calculated based upon the evaluation of the CEs. The results composed by the CEs were collected, examined, and analyzed by me (see Appendix L). The I-CVI was calculated by the group of CEs assigning a numerical rating to each item. The scale content validity index (S-CVI) is an average of the I-CVI. The S-CVI was calculated by taking the sum of the I-CVI results and dividing by the number of items of the posttest. A value 0.90 is considered an excellent content validity (Polit & Beck, 2017). The results of CE evaluations are consolidated and discussed in Section 4.

Summary of the Evaluation of the Staff Education Program by Participants

The evaluation form for the participants (see Appendix I) was provided by the nursing organization of perianesthesia nurses and contained a 4-point Likert scale section along with a dichotomous "yes" "no" section. The evaluation form also provided space for the participants to add comments. Results will be presented descriptively in Section 4.

Pretest/Posttest Change in Knowledge Results by Participants

The change in knowledge between pretest and posttest was determined for the individual participants and the overall group and described using descriptive statistics identifying the range and the mean (see Appendix M).

Summary Evaluation Results of the Staff Education Project by CEs

The various themes offered by the participants' evaluations were identified to gather the participants' thoughts concerning the project (see Appendix O). The results are reported as themes and presented in Section 4.

Summary

The practice-focused questions served as the basis of this project. The CEs and RNs of the local perianesthesia organization made up the participants for this project. The RNs participated in the SEED, while the CEs evaluated the content validity of the test items. Analysis was conducted for the results of the CE evaluations relating to the curriculum, pretest/posttest item analysis, program evaluation and change in knowledge from pretest to posttest by the participants. I used descriptive analysis to achieve the results. Finally, the evaluation of the project by the CEs produced themes. Protection assurance was explained via recognition and adherence to IRB guidelines. In Section 4, I will reiterate the practice-focused questions that drove this project and summarize how the evidence was generated. The analysis and synthesis of the results will be presented. The various themes formulated by the participants' will be used to improve future presentations. Suggestions and comments will be documented in the summary of the CEs, along with their impact on the RNs' implementation of evidence-based practice. I will identify recommendations for further discussions and strategies for evidence-based practice implementation by RNs.
Section 4: Findings and Recommendations

Introduction

The problem identified for this DNP project was the lack of knowledge among RNs in implementing evidence-based patient care at the bedside. The gap in knowledge was identified as RNs not accessing and implementing evidence-based care at the bedside. Therefore, the purpose of this continuing education evidence-based practice SEED project was to fill the gap in practice through the planning, implementation, and evaluation of a SEED program on evidence-based practice for nurses who provide patient care at the bedside. The practice-focused questions that served as the basis of this project were

- What evidence from the literature supports the use of evidence-based research by nurses at the patient bedside?
- Will there be a change in knowledge from pretest to posttest upon implementation of the educational progress?

I gathered information concerning RNs and evidence-based care via databases such as Medline, CINAHL, PubMed, ProQuest, and the Walden University Library. Pertinent sources were obtained, read, and graded to determine their relevancy to the subject of RNs and the implementation of evidence-based practice. A matrix was developed with relevant literature that supported the purpose of my project. Evidence-based research supports clinical interventions by nurses who primarily practice at the bedside to provide quality care (Melnyk & Fineout-Overholt, 2019). Quality care as a result of evidence-based clinical research, inquiry, and practice decreases patient hospitalizations (AACN, 2019; Crable et al., 2021; Weiss et al., 2018). Descriptive analysis was used to analyze the results of the evidence except for the evaluation of the project by the CEs, which was thematic in nature.

Findings and Implications

Curriculum Plan Evaluation by CEs Summary

A dichotomous scale using met = 1, and *not* met = 2 was used by the CEs and was analyzed using descriptive statistics (see Appendix K). The overall mean score was 1. The comments included "All of the questions were discussed in the curriculum plan, therefore easy to identify the correct answer", "the curriculum plan covers the objectives provided. Expound and amplify some concepts covered by providing more detailed discussions".

Pretest/Posttest Content Expert Validity Scale Analysis

Validity is a construct that determines the relevancy of items to what is being measured (Polit & Beck, 2017). A content validity scale was used to validate the items for my DNP project (see Appendix L). The CEs evaluated each item in the pretest and posttest with a 4-point Likert scale. Evaluation scores of 3 and 4 were identified as 1, and scores of 1 and 2 were identified as 0. An I-CVI score was calculated for each item by adding the CEs' scores then dividing by the 3 CEs. The S-CVI is the result of the sum of all I-CVI scores divided by the number of items scored. The S-CVI score for the pretest/posttest was .96. A score of .90 is a standard score and described as the establishment of excellent content validity (Polit & Beck 2017). Questions 4 and 7 were stated by one CE as "somewhat relevant" who wrote that these questions were "only relevant in review of literature." Other comments were that these questions were graded as relevant. The third CE graded all questions as "very relevant" with the exception of Question 4, graded as "relevant" to the curriculum.

Summary of the Evaluation of the Staff Education Program by Participants

The participants were requested to evaluate the presentation (see Appendix N) using a 4point Likert scale where 1 = low, 2 = moderate low, 3 = moderate high, and 4 = high. There were two "yes" or "no" questions, and an area left for comments. The participants were requested to rate the presentation. Thirteen participants rated is as 4, one rated it as 3. The presenter, teaching approaches, and the appropriateness of the facility were quantitatively rated. The participants communicated that the program was free from bias, but one participant marked "no" yet did not offer any follow-up explanation. All participants agreed that all faculty and planner disclosures were provided in handouts.

The participant comments communicated they had a better understanding of how to identify a clinical problem and the implementation of evidence-based interventions on the clinical unit. The participants indicated that the information learned from the presentation would be shared with colleagues and used as part of unit education.

Pretest/Posttest Change in Knowledge Results by Participants

There were 23 persons who attended the educational session. In order to receive the continuing education credit, the participants must have completed the pretest, posttest, and evaluation. Fourteen people completed the requirements. One participant did not complete the requirements due to time constraints. Other participants did not pursue the credit as they did not complete the tests or evaluation.

The pretest scores ranged from 9 to 14 with an average of correct answers being 11.2 or 75%. The posttest scores ranged from 10 to 15 with the average of correct answers being 12.4 or 83%. There was an 8% difference between the averages for the pretest and posttest. The results from the pretest/posttests (see Appendix M) demonstrate that there was a gain in knowledge.

Two participants had lower scores on their posttests than on their pretests, and four persons' scores stayed the same.

Summary Evaluation Results of the Staff Education Project by CEs

The evaluation results from the CEs concerning the Staff Education project were compiled in the form of themes (see Appendix O). A theme that was communicated about the presentation was an effective education tool for RNs. The CEs found the activity to be an enjoyable and easy experience. Two CEs indicated that involvement was adequate; however, one CE wanted earlier project involvement. The CEs relayed they had enough time to complete their requested tasks and that I displayed confident leadership throughout the process.

Recommendations

A recommendation offered was to create a step-by-step guide for the attendees to use in their individual projects. In the question-and-answer session at the end of the presentation, attendees expressed interest in initiating projects. Another recommendation was to institute regularly scheduled follow-up meetings with RNs who have projects, as well as to invite others who have an interest in gathering additional information concerning the implementation of evidence-based practice.

Contribution of the Doctoral Project Team

The doctoral project team consisted of three CEs, who anonymously provided feedback through evaluation of the curriculum, validation of the pretest/posttest items, and evaluation of the project, process, and my leadership.

Strengths and Limitations

The strengths of this project were that RNs were able to disseminate the information to colleagues at various facilities. Real-time sharing of information learned from the presentation

will positively impact patient outcomes. Another identified strength was that RNs have identified barriers to evidence-based practice, as well as strategies to overcome these barriers and challenges. A major limitation of this project was the number of attendees. This limitation is likely the result of the COVID-19 and the Delta and Omicron variants. These factors suppressed in-person attendance. An additional limitation that was experienced was the lack of participation from some of the members in the completion of the CE requirements.

Summary

In Section 4, I presented the findings related to supplying evidence to answer the practice-focused questions thus filling the gap in practice. The role of the CEs demonstrated their commitment to the project, and the strengths and limitations of the project were set forth. The CEs evaluated the project, process, and my leadership providing me with aspects of my leadership that served the project well while giving me recommendations to revise the project in the future and improve in my leadership opportunities. The findings of the evidence were presented in Section 4 along with recommendations for future activities for the group related to the topic. In Section 5, I analyze my roles as a healthcare practitioner, scholar, and project manager. In addition, I address how the result of my work will be disseminated to my colleagues.

Section 5: Dissemination Plan

My plan to disseminate the information from my DNP project involves presentations at professional nursing meetings, incorporate the findings into and abstract for a poster presentation at the upcoming national perianesthesia conference and submit an article for publication to the Journal of Perianesthesia Nurses (JOPAN) and for the American Association of Legal Nurse Consultants (AALNC).

The audience for each of these areas are RNs who practice at the bedside of patients who are being prepared for surgery and who have had surgical procedures. In addition, the information concerning the implementation of evidence-based clinical practice is beneficial to all nurses who provide care to patients at the bedside.

Analysis of Self

Practitioner

As a nurse practitioner, I have experienced many orientation opportunities to different clinical areas, as well as to different clinical facilities throughout the United States. The single item I have found to be constant is the care of patients. Evidence-based care/practice may or may not be incorporated into the one-to-one nurse learning experience, or the preceptor-orientee relationship. Through the process of obtaining my DNP, I have been able to bring information related to evidence-based practice at the bedside to the participants in the program. As well, I will be able to bring strategies to provide evidence-based practice to my colleagues in the clinic and in the ICU.

Scholar

As a scholar on this DNP journey, I first completed a didactic portion of the program as well as a clinical practicum where I was able to incorporate knowledge from coursework. An extensive review of the literature was the basis for my capstone project. This permitted me to gather additional evidence concerning what I would pursue as my capstone DNP project. My writing skills have improved as a result and will serve me as I examine/study policies, procedures and healthcare guidelines as a legal nurse consultant, continue to write for publication, teach, mentor, and conduct professional nursing education sessions. This project allowed me to fulfil my role as a scholar as I constructed a PowerPoint for group presentation as well as for teaching and disseminating information in the future and facilitating the practice of my colleagues.

Project Manager

My project was based upon RNs' experiences at the bedside and the implementation of evidence-based practice. My role as project manager came to fruition as I identified, and worked with, the content experts, developed the curriculum and pretest/posttest and analyzed the results of the evidence obtained. I worked together with the nursing organization to market the presentation and worked with the education committee to present the meeting. In order to get continuing education credit for the participants, I completed the required documentation. My project was instrumental in achieving my goal to continue to be an effective nurse educator, and scholar-practitioner to provide evidence-based patient care.

Summary

Antiquated and outdated patient care methods are costly and prolong disease states and hospitalizations. Nurses are a viable and dynamic part of the healthcare team and are present at the bedside to provide care to achieve optimal patient outcomes. However, nurses must be able to practice using evidence-based methods for implementation. This project was designed to assist and support nurses to regularly implement knowledgeable, up-to-date patient interventions.

34

Evidence-based practices will support the health of patients, families, and societies. This is the importance of implementing evidence-based practice at the bedside.

References

- Aljezawi, M., Al Qadire, M., Alhajjy, M. H., Tawalbeh, L. I., Alamery, A. H., Aloush, S., ALBashtawy, M. (2019). Barriers to integrating research into clinical practice. *Journal of Nursing Care Quality*, 34(3), E7-E11. https://doi.org/10.1097/ncq.00000000000371
- Altounji D., Williams, S., Secola, R. (2019). Inspire certification among pediatric hematology oncology nurses. *Journal of Pediatric Oncology Nursing*, 36(5), 337-342. https://doi.org/10.1177/1043454219845892
- American Association of Colleges of Nursing. (2019). *The Essentials of Doctoral Education for Advanced Nursing Practice.*

https://www.aacnnursing.org/Portals/42/Publications/DNPEssentials.pdf

- American Nurses Association. (n.d.). *Barriers to RN scope of practice panel*. https://www.nursingworld.org/practice-policy/barriers-to-rn-scope-of-practice-panel/
- American Society of PeriAnesthesia Nurses. (2019). 2019-2020 PeriAnesthesia nursing standards, practice recommendations, and interpretive statements.
- Amey, A. L., Burlingame, E. E., Welch, K., Moakler, M., & Fahey, F. (2017). Nurse communication's effect on CMS star ratings. *Nursing Management*, 48(8), 9-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.numa.0000521580.09882.3f</u>
- Beaird, G. (2019). CE: A historical review of nurse-physician bedside rounding. *American Journal of Nursing*, *119*(4), 30-38. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.naj.0000554525.02127.3b</u>
- Bharat, P., & Kiran, B. (2015). Factors influencing professionalism among nurse educators; A feasibility study. *Baba Farid University Journal*, 9(2), 23-30.
- Black, A. T., Balneaves, L. G., Garossino, C., Puyat, J. H., & Qian, H. (2015). Promoting evidence-based practice through a research training program for point-of-care clinicians.

The Journal of Nursing Administration, 45(1), 14-20.

https://doi.org/10.1097/nna.00000000000151

- Blake, N. (29 April 2016). Yes, nurses do research, and it's improving patient care. *Elsevier Nursing Blog*. <u>https://www.elsevier.com/connect/yes-nurses-do-research-and-it-is-</u> improving-patient-care
- Bowles, J. R., Adams, J. M., Batcheller, J., Zimmerman, D., & Pappas, S. (2018). The role of the nurse leader in advancing the Quadruple Aim. *Nurse Leader*, 16(4), 244-248. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mnl.2018.05.011</u>
- Chipps, E., Nash, M., Buck, J., & Vermillion, B. (2018). Demystifying nursing research at the bedside. *Nursing Management*, 48(4), 28-35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/01.numa.0000514063.45819.c1</u>
- Crable, J., Farrar-Highfield. M. E., & Patmon, R. (2021). Evidence-based practice knowledge, attitudes, practices, and barriers. *Nursing 2021, 51*(9), 58-65.

https://doi.org/10.1097/01.nurse.0000754000.05371.65

- Curtis, M. P., Kist, S., Van Aman, M. N., & Riley, K. (2017). Designing integrated courses in an RN-to-BSN program. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 48(8), 369-372. https://doi.org/10.3928/00220124-20170712-09
- Dols, J. D., Hernandez, C., & Miles, H. (2017). The DNP project: Quandaries for nursing scholars. Nursing Outlook, 65(1), 84-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.outlook.2016.07.009</u>
- DuGan, J. E. (2019). "Keeping you in the know": The effect of an online nursing journal club on evidence-based knowledge among rural registered nurses. *Computers, Informatics, Nursing*, 37(4), 190-195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/CIN.000000000000507</u>

Edwards, N., Coddington, J., Erler, C., & Kirkpatrick, J. (2018). The impact of the role of the

Doctor of Nursing Practice nurses on healthcare and leadership. *Medical Research Archives*, 6(4), 1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.18103/mra.v6i4.1734</u>

- Farokhzadian, J., Khajouei, R., & Ahmadian, L. (2015). Information seeking and retrieval skills of nurses: Nurses readiness for evidence-based practice in hospitals of a medical university in Iran. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 84(8), 570-577. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2015.03.008</u>
- Fineout-Overholt, E., Melnyk, B. M., Stillwell, S. B., & Williamson, K. M. (2010). Critical appraisal of the evidence: Part 1. An introduction to gathering, evaluating, and recording the evidence. *American Journal of Nursing*, *110* (7), 47-49. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.naj.0000383935.22721.9c
- Fisher, C., Cusack, G., Cox, K., Feigenbaum, K., & Wallen, G. R. (2016). Developing competency to sustain evidence-based practice. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, 46(11), 581-585. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/nna.000000000000408</u>
- Friesen, M. A., Brady, J. M., Milligan, R., & Christensen, P. (2017). Findings from a pilot study: Bringing evidence-based practice to the bedside. *Worldviews on Evidence-Based Nursing*, 14(1), 22-34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/wvn.12195</u>
- Gray, J. R., Grove, S. K., & Sutherland, S. (2017). Burns and Grove's the practice of nursing research: Appraisal, synthesis, and generation of evidence (8th ed.). Elsevier Publishing.
- Haycock, C., Edwards, M. L., & Stanley, C. S. (2016). Unpacking MACRA: The proposed rule and its implications for payment and practice. *Nursing Administration Quarterly*, 40(4), 349-355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NAQ.00000000000195</u>
- Hendricks, J. & Cope, V. (2017). Research is not a 'scary' word: Registered nurses and barriers to research utilization. *Nordic Journal of Nursing Research*, *37*(1), 44-50.

https://doi.org/10.1177/2057158516679581

Hsu, T-C, Lee-Hsieh, J., Turton, M., & Cheng, S-F. (2014). Using the ADDIE model to develop online continuing education courses on caring for nurses in Taiwan. *Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing 45*(3), 124-131. https://doi.org/ <u>10.3928/00220124-</u>

20140219-04

- Hweidi, I. M., Tawalbeh, L. I., Al-Hassan, M. U., Alayadeh, R. M., & Al-Smadi, A. M. (2017). Research use of nurses working in the critical care units: Barriers and facilitators. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, 36(4), 226-233. https://doi.org/ 10.1097/DCC.0000000000255
- Institute of Medicine. (2010). *The future of nursing: Leading change, advancing health*. https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/waldenu/detail.action?docID=3378745#?
- Jairath, N., Donley, Sr. R., Shelton, D., McMullen, P., & Grandjean, C. (November-December-2006). Nursing and the common good. *Journal of the Catholic Health Association of the United States*. https://www.chausa.org/publications/health-progress/article/novemberdecember-2006/nursing-and-the-common-good
- Jeffery, A. D., Longo, M. A., & Nienaber, A. (2016). Staff educator's guide to professional development: Assessing and enhancing nurse competency. Sigma Theta Tau International.
- Jeffs, L., Beswick, S., Lo, J., Campbell, H., Ferris, E., & Sidani, S. (2013). Defining what evidence is, linking it to patient outcomes, and making it relevant to practice: Insight from clinical nurses. *Applied Nursing Research*, 26, 105-109.
- Jokiniemi, K., Suutarla, A., Meretoja, R., Kotila, J., Flinkman, M., Heikkinen, K., & Fagerstrom, L. (2020). Evidence-informed policymaking: Modelling nurses' career pathway from

registered nurse to advanced practice nurse. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, 26(1), e12777. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ijn.12777</u>

- Lu, S-C., Cheng, Y-C., & Chan, P-T. (2016). Using ADDIE model to develop a nursing information system training program for new graduate nurse. Nursing Informatics 225, 969-970. https://doi.org/10.3233/-1-61499-658-3-969
- Luck, L., Chok, N. H., Scott, N., & Wilkes, L. (2017). The role of breast cancer in patient and family care. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *26*, 3422-3429.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13704

- McIntosh, C. E., Thomas, C. M., & Siela, D. (2016). Non-Bachelor of Science in nursing registered nurse to Bachelor of Science in nursing registered nurse: A change in critical thinking. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, 35(6), 303-308. <u>http://doi.org/10.1097/DCC.00000000000212</u>
- McNeill, L. (2017). Back to basics: How evidence-based nursing practice can prevent catheterassociated urinary tract infections. *Urologic Nursing*, *37*(4), 204-206.

http://doi.org/10.7257/1053-816X.2017.37.4.204

- Melnyk, B.M., & Fineout-Overholt, E. (2019). *Evidence-based practice in nursing and healthcare: A guide to best practice, (4th ed.).* Wolters Kluwer Publishing.
- Michael, M., & Clochesy, J. M. (2016). From scientific discovery to health outcomes: A synergistic model of doctoral nursing education. *Nurse Education Today*, 40, 84-86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2016.02.011
- O'Leary, B. (2017). The good, the bad, and the ADDIE. *Electrical Apparatus*, 70(7), 33-34.
- Peiro, T., Lorente, L., & Vera, M. (2020). The COVID-19 crisis: Skills that are paramount to build into nursing programs for future global health crisis. *International Journal of*

Environmental Research and Public Health, 17(18), 6532.

http://doi:10.3390/ijerph17186532

- Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2017). *Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice, (10th ed.).* Wolters Kluwer.
- Rahmayanti, E. I., Kadar, K. S. Saleh, A. (2020). Readiness, barriers, and strength of nursing in implementing evidence-based-practice. *International Journal of caring Sciences*, 13 (2), 1203-1211.
- Raigani, S., Numanoglu, A., Schwachter, M., & Ponsky, T. A. (2014). Online resources in pediatric surgery: The new era of medical education. *European Journal of Pediatric Surgery*, 24(4), 308-312. <u>https://doi.org/10.1055s-0034-1386649</u>
- Saunders, H. & Vehvilainen-Julkunen, K. (2016). The state of readiness for evidence-based practice among nurses: An integrative review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 56, 128-140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j/ijnurstu.2015.10.018
- Spruce, L. (2015). Back to basics: Implementing evidence-based practice. *Association of periOperative Registered Nurses, 101*(1), 106-112.
- Stucky, C. H., DeJong, M. J., & Rodriguez, J. A. (2020). A five-step evidence-based practice primer for perioperative RNs. Association of Operating Room Nurses, 112 (5), 506-515.
- Weaver, B., Knox, K., & McPherson, S. (2019). Perceptions of rural magnet nurses' comfort and confidence with evidence-based practice. *The Journal of Continuing Education in Nursing*, 50(11), 495-500.
- Weiss, M. E., Bobay, K. L., Johantgen, M., & Shirey, M. R. (2018). Aligning evidence-based practice with translational research: Opportunities for clinical practice research. *The Journal of Nursing Administration, 48*(9), 425-431.

- Wilkinson, S. A., Hughes, E., Moir, J., Jobber, C., & Ackerie, A. (2018). *Nutrition & Dietetics*, 75. https://doi.org/ 12.1111/1747-0080.12469
- Williams, B., Perillo, S., & Brown, T. (2015). What are the factors of organizational culture in health care settings that act as barriers to the implementation of evidence-based practice? A scoping review. *Nurse Education Today, 35*, e36-e41.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2014.11.012.

- Zaccagnini, M. E., & White, K. W. (2014). *The Doctor of Nursing practice essentials: A New model for advanced practice nursing (2nd ed.).* Jones & Bartlett Publishing.
- Zittel, B., Moss, E., O'Sullivan, A., & Siek, T. (2016). Registered nurses as professionals:
 Accountability for education and practice. *The Online Journal of Issues in Nursing 21*(3),
 8.

Appendix A: Assessment, Design, Development, Implementation, and Evaluation (ADDIE)



Model of Instructional Design

https://futuristicplayground.wordpress.com/2014/11/06/the-design-phase-of-addie/

Appendix B: Literature Review Matrix

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e e v i d e n c
Alje zawi et al., 2019	Cros s- secti onal surv ey		Con veni ence sam plin g and ques tion naire s; cros s- secti onal surv ey	Identi fied barrie rs were a lack of time, lack of staff suppo rt	The activ ities of the clini cal setti ng were ident ified as barri ers	e I I
Ame rican Soci ety of Peri Ane sthes ia Nurs es. (201 9)	Clini cal guid eline s				Prov ides clini cal guid eline s for nursi ng pract ice in the PAC U	V I I
Ame rican Asso ciati on of Coll eges of Nurs ing.	Curr icula spec ifica tions for colle ges of nursi ng				Prov ides guid eline s for curri cula for colle ges of	I V

Hierarchy of Evidence for Intervention Studies tool, Used with Permission.

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e e v i d e n c e
9)					ng	
Ame y, A., Burla inga me, E. E., Wel ch, K., Moa kler, M., & Fahe y, L. (201 7)	The chief nurs e exec utive s of 364 medi um and large hosp itals were chos en from HC APs data and prov ided a surv ey	The auth ors want ed to deter mine if effec tive nurs e com mun icati on coul d be achi eved in medi um and large hosp itals	The chief nurs e exec utive s of 175 hosp itals out of the 364 sam ple were rand oml y selec ted	53 chief nurse execu tives respo nded (33.3 %) respo nded to the surve y	The majo rity of the CNE 's attri bute d their high HC AP scor es to facil ity lead ershi p. 91% state d that the impl eme ntati on of evid ence - base d pract ices great ly impa cted posit ive HC APS	I

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e v i d e n c e
					Com mun icati on with reco gniti on and supp ort of nursi ng staff lead s to bette r patie nt satis facti on and supp ort of nursi staff lead s to bette s to staff s to staff	
Ame rican Nurs es Asso ciati on (202 0)	Clini cal pract ice spec ifica tions		Pane I Disc ussi on Desc ripti on	Culmi nated into 5 article s writte n by panel memb ers conce ming RN accou ntabili ty, profes sional ism, and practi	Desc ribes scop e of RN pract ice guid eline s	I V

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e e v i d e n c e
				barrie rs		
Beai rd, G., (201 9).	Desc ripti ve anal ysis	Prov ides a histo rical pers pecti ve of nurs e- phys ician beds ide roun ding	com parat ive anal ysis with 21st cent ury nurs e- phys ician colla bora tion	Histor ical descri ption; Descr iptive analys is	Ther e are rema inin g stere otyp es and bias es conc erni ng the roles of nurs es that pract ice at the beds ide	VI
Bhar at, P., & Kira n, B. (201 5)		How does prof essio nalis m influ ence nurs e educ ators ?	A 34- item scale was used to mea sure prof essio nalis m and 8 attri bute	Cross - sectio nal desig n with the use of a focus group. This is a comp onenti al mixed	Alth ough Spiri t of Inqu iry (77 %), Acc ount abili ty/A uton omy (73 %) and	VI

Refe	The	Rese	Rese	Analy	Con	G
renc	cal	arch	arch meth	sis & result	ons	r
	conc	tions	odol	s	0110	d
	eptu	(s)	ogy			i
	al	hypo				n
	ewor	s				g t
	k	5				h
						e
						e
						v i
						d
						e
						n
						e
			s of prof	metho	Kno	
			essio	u	ge	
			nalis		(73	
			m		%)	
			A 72		scor	
			item		fairl	
			ques		У	
			tion		high	
			naire		, there	
			used		was	
			to		no	
			asse		signi	
			SS		fican	
			s		influ	
			that		ence	
			affec		on	
			t		the	
			essio		essio	
			nalis		nalis	
			m		m	
			A self-		amo	
			admi		thes	
			niste		e	
			red		nurs	
			prot		e educ	
			nal		ators	
			asse			
			ssme			
			scale			
			was			
			used			
			"Jud			
			gme			
			ntal			
			sam			
			יווו פ"			
			was			
			used			
			to			
			t 30			

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e v i d e n c e
			nursi ng educ ators p23			
Blak e, N. (29 Apri 1 2016).	Qual itati ve		Desc ripti ve	Witne ss to the need of RNs to engag e in clinic al resear ch to elevat e patien t care		VI
Bow les, J. R., Ada ms, J. M., Batc helle r, J., Zim mer man, D., & Papp as, S. (201 8)	Non - expe rime ntal non- rese arch		Desc ripti ve		Adv ocac y, influ ence , and inno vatio n need ed from	V I I
Chip ps, E, Nas h, M.,	Desc ripti ve		Guid eline s	Descr iptive resear ch	Spel l out guid eline s to the	V I

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e v i d e n c e
Buc k, J., &Ve rmill ion, B. (201 8).					initi ation and impl eme ntati on of clini cal inqu iry	
Crab le, J., Farr ar- High field . M. E., & Pat mon , R. (202 1).	Gath ered parti cipa nts from 2 hosp itals to asse ss RNs , kno wled ge and attit udes abou t EBP		Desc ripti ve and infer entia l anal ysis	Descr iptive resear ch	Iden tifie d a need ed asse ssme nt form at to expo se gaps in kno wled ge; Use of Tool kit to stop barri ers	ннн
Curt is, M. P., Kist, S., Van Ama n, & Rile y, K. (201 7)	Anal ytica l impl eme ntati on of AD DIE Mod el		AD DIE mod el		Com posit ion of RN- BSN with the integ ratio n of	I V

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e e v i d e n c
Dols , J. D., Hern ande z, C., & Mile s, H. (201 7).		Iden tifies issue s that facul ty addr ess with DNP proj ects	Surv ey	Qualit y impro veme nt Descr iptive resear ch	DNP prog rams are in trans ition	e V I I
DuG an, J. E. (201 9)	Eval uatio n Tool desi gn of a pre- test, post- test	"For rural RNs , how does an onli ne nursi ng jour nal club affec t EBP kno wled ge?"	Qua ntita tive tools to clari fy the relat ions hip betw een an onli ne jour nal club vs the amo unt of chan ge in EBP kno wled ge. A conv enie nce sam plin g of nursi	47 nursin g alumn i agree d to partici pate. 37 alumn i compl eted the requir ed 3 article s and the EBPQ surve y Paired sampl e t tests were run to measu re the signifi cance of the pre- and post- tests	Exp osur e to EBP activ ities and infor mati on incre ased parti cipat ion in an onli ne jour nal club	VII

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	Gradin gtheeviden ce
			ng scho ol alum ni			
Edw ards, N., Cod ding ton, J., Erler , C., & Kirk patri ck, J. (201 9)	Desc ripti ve	Add resse s how DNP proj ects cont ribut e to evid ence - base d pract ices		Qualit y impro verne nt; Descr iptive	Evid ence - base d cont ribut ions of DNP pract ition ers thro ugh area s such as advo cacy , healt h polic y and clini cal pract ice	VI
Faro khza dian, Khaj ouei, R., & Ahm adia n, L. (201 5)	Desc ripti ve, cros s- secti onal stud y	Exa mine the degr ee to whic h nurs es use diffe rent medi	Inve stiga tion of the vari ous infor mati onal rese arch tools	Descr iptive, cross- sectio nal study	Nurs es beca me mor e awar e of adva nced elect roni c	V

	The oreti cal conc	Rese arch ques tions	Rese arch meth odol	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d
	eptu al fram ewor k	(s) hypo thesi s	ogy			1 n g t h e e v i d e n c
		cal infor mati on, nurs es' infor mati on retri eval abili ties, and nurs es' kno wled ge and abili ties to utili ze diffe rent sear ch	of nurs es		sear ches	
Fine out- Over holt, E., Mel nyk, B. M., Still well, S. B., & Will iams on, K. M. (201 0)	Desc ripti ve Con cept s			Appra isal tool for literat ure revie w	Qual ity impr ove ment , Eval uate s rese arch studi es in acco rdan ce to meth odol ogy	V I I

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e v i d e n c e
Fish er, C., Cusa ck, G., Cox, K., Feig enba um, K., & Wall en, G. R. (201 6).			Desc ribes the cons truct ion, and impl eme ntati on of evid ence - base d pract ices	Devel opme nt of a learni ng tool	Dev elop ment of INS PIR E (inn ovati on for nursi ng- sensi tive pract ice in a rese arch envi ron ment)	VI
Fries en, M. A., Brad y, J. M., Milli gan, R., & Chri stens en, P. (201 7).	Liter ature revie w		"Stu dy was to asse ss a dem onstr ation proj ect inten ded to pilot and eval uate a struc ture d EBP educ	Quant itative and qualit ative data collec tion	Stati stica l Anal ysis	VI

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e v i d e n c e
			ation with ment orin g inno vatio n for nurs es in a mult ihos pital syste m" (p.2 2)			
Gray , J. R., Gro ve, S. K., & Suth erlan d, S. (201 7)	Con cept s				Qual ity impr ove ment , clini cal pract ice guid eline s	V I
Hay cock , C., Edw ards, M. L., & Stan ley, C. S. (201 6)	Con cept s of pay for servi ces care			Descr iptive	Clini cal guid eline s	VI
Hen dric ks, J. & Cop		Do RNs read rese arch	Poin t Prev alen ce		Desc ripti ve stati stics	V I

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e v i d e n c e
e, V. (201 7).		artic les as well as com preh end the mate rial in orde r to impl eme nt the findi ngs in clini cal pract ice?	surv ey – a Surv ey that ident ifies the num ber of parti cipa nts that do not read rese arch artic les, etc		were used to anal yze the resul ts;	
Hsu, T-C, Lee- Hsie h, J., Turt on, M., & Che ng, S-F. (201 4).	AD DIE Mod el		"Thi s stud y was cond ucte d to deve lop onli ne cour ses on carin g for the hosp ital's nurs es." (pg. 124)		Lear ning need s ident ified char acter ized as "Car ing The mes and Unc arin g The mes "	V I I

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e
Hwe		Wha		Cross	Prec	e v i d e n c e
Hwe idi, I. M., Taw albe h, L. I., Al- Hass an, M. U., Alay edeh , R. M., & Al- Sma di, A. M. (201 7).		Wha t are the barri ers ident ified by Jord ania n criti cal care nurs es in		Cross - sectio nal' correl ationa l study	Prec epte d rese arch use (RU) amo ng criti cal care nurs es was mod erate ; 7 of top ten barri ers ident ified dealt with orga nizat ion chall enge s	I V
Insti tute of Med icine (201 0)				Descr iptive	Iden tifie d the prog ressi on of the nursi ng prof essio n thro ugh educ ation	V I I

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r ad i n g t h e v i d e n c e
					al and prof essio nal adva nce ment	
Jeffe ry, A. D., Lon go, M. A., & Nien aber, A. (201 6)	AD DIE Mod el			Descr iptive	Iden tifies how the AD DIE mod el is used for clini cal quali ty impr ove ment and rese arch	V I I
Jeffs , L., Bes wick , S., Lo, J., Cam pbell , H., Ferri s, E., & Sida ni, S. (201 3).		Wha t are nurs es' defi nitio n of evid ence as well as how evid ence is appli cabl e to their day-	An open - ende d inter view guid e alon g with 3 broa d ques tions : 1. How do you define evidence?	Qualit ative study; identi fied the follo wing theme s: viewi ng evide nce as resear ch; linkin g evide nce to patien	Stud y ident ified 1. strat egie s to allo w evid ence to be mor e acce ssibl e to nurs es, 2.	VI

Refe	The	Rese	Rese	Analy	Con	G
e	cal	ques	meth	result	ons	a
	conc	tions	odol	s		d ;
	al	hypo	ogy			n
	fram	thesi				g
	ewor k	S				t h
	ĸ					e
						e
						v i
						d
						e
						c
		to-	2. What are the	t	Infor	e
		day	sources of	outco	mati	
		pract	evidence that	mes;	on	
		icc	practice?	g	be	
			3. What makes	evide	patie	
			evidence applicable to	nce	nt spec	
			your daily	nt to	ific	
			practice?	clinic		
				practi		
x 1.				ce		
Joki niem	evid	form		Descr	I he form	V I
i, K.,	ence	ulate		Qualit	ulati	Ι
Suut	- infor	, valid		y	on	
A.,	med	ate,		veme	path	
Mer	polic	and		nt	way	
etoja . R.,	y and	disse			for RNs	
Koti	pract	te			to	
la, I	ice	polic			achi	
J., Flin	way	y, mod			Adv	
kma	fram	ellin			ance	
n, M.	ewor k for	g nurs			d pract	
Heik	the	es'			ice	
kine	adva	care			statu	
и, К.,	ment	path			5	
&	of	way				
Fage	RNs	from regis				
m,		tered				
L.		to				
(202		nced				
,		pract				
		ice				
		e				
In	AD	Usin	5	The	25	V
S-	DIE	g the	stag	creati	grad	I
C.,	Mod	AD	es of	on of	uate	-
ng,	ei	Mod	AD	an onboa	es	
Y-		el to	DIE	rding	com	Ī

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e e v i d
C., & Cha n, P- T. (201		creat e an infor mati on	Mod el	infor matio n traini ng for grochu	plete d the onbo ardi ng	e n c e
(201 6).		m train ing prog ram for grad uate nurs es in the wor kpla ce		gradu ate nurses	infor mati on train ing for grad uate nurs es: Qual ity impr ove ment	
Luc k, L., Cho k, N. H., Scot t, N., & Wilk es, L. (201 7).		To deter mine the imp orta nce of the RNs role whe n prov idin g care for brea st canc er patie nts	Desc ripti ve Anal ysis; Onli ne Surv ey	Statist ical Analy sis of qualit ative and quanti tative data	Iden tifies the imp orta nce of the care the RN brigs to the beds ide	V I I I
McI ntos h, C. E., Tho mas,		To deter mine the diffe renc	Desc ripti ve/hi stori cal	Qualit ative	BSN - prep ared RNs dem	V I

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e v i d e n c e
C. M., & Siela , D. (201 6)		es betw een BSN and non- BSN RNs			onstr ate an incre ase in patie nt outc ome s Ther e are redu ction s in heart failu re mort ality , DV Ts, pul mon ary emb olis ms, and pres sure ulcer s	
Mc Neill , L. (201 7).	Desc ripti ve	How basi c evid ence - base d pract ice can prev ent cath eter-	Syst emat ic revie w	Descr iptive	Basi c evid ence - base d pract ices at the beds ide decr ease	VI

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e e v i d e n c e
		asso ciate d urin ary infec tions			CA UTI	
Mel nyk, B.M ., & Fine out- Over holt, E. (201 9)	Desc ripti ve	Expl ains guid eline s to best clini cal pract ices		Descr iptive	Clini cal Guid eline s	V I I
Mic hael, M., & Cloc hesy , J. M. (201 6).		Crea tion of a mod el that com bine s scie ntifi c disc over y with posit ive healt h outc ome s		Descr iptive	The resul t of a com bine d PhD - DNP nursi ng mod el	V I I
Peir o, T., Lore nte, L., & Vera		Anal yzed the stres s and copi ng		Struct ural equati on model ing analys is	The role of RNs at the beds ide	I V

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e e v i d e n c e
, M. (202 0)		strat egie s of nurs es in the wak e of CO VID -19			is para mou nt to the care of patie nts and fami lies; Prof essio nal matu re RNs dem onstr ated high er abili ties to form ulate copi ng strat egie s whil e mulate copi ng strat egie s whil earn ed skill s	
Polit , D. F., & Bec k, C. T.	Desc ripti ve	Expl ains rese arch desi gn for best		Descr iptive	Rese arch Desi gn/ Guid eline s	V I I
Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e e v i d e n c
---	--	---	--	---	--	---
(201 7)		clini cal pract ices				
Rah may anti, E. I., Kad ar, K. S. Sale h, A. (202 0).	Desc ripti ve	Exa mine d nurs e readi ness to use EBP inter venti ons		Cross sectio nal study		I I I
Raig ani, S., Num anog lu, A., Sch wac hter, M., & Pons ky, T. A. (201 4).		Expl ores an upgr aded deliv eran ce of infor mati on	Curr iculu m quali ty impr ove ment	Descr iptive Telem edicin e and other techn ologie s	Upd ated teac hing via the use of tech nolo gy fills the time gap prov ided by textb ooks	V I V I I
Saun ders, H. & Veh vilai nen- Julk unen , K. 2016		Wha t facto rs relat ed to nurs es' indi vidu al readi	Inte grati ve Revi ew	Most RNs are not able to engag e evide nce- based	Mor e robu st, theo retic ally case d rese arch studi	V I I

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e v i d e n c e
		ness for evid ence - base d pract ice and to deter mine the curr ent state of nurs es' evid ence - base d pract ice s.		practi ce	es are need ed to be adde d to curri cula to eval uate d nursi ng com pete ncie s as most nurs es are not able to enga ge evid ence - base d pract ice	
Spru ce, L. (201 5).		To prov ide kno wled ge abou t evid ence - base d pract ice	Desc ripti ve	Clinic al Guide lines	To fill a kno wled ge gap conc erni ng evid ence - base d	V I I

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons pract	G r a d i n g t h e v i d e n c e
Staff Man ual Wal den Univ ersit y, 2019	Desc ripti ve	Expl ains desi gn for best clini cal pract ice for staff educ ation		Descr iptive	ices Edu catio nal Desi gn/ Guid eline s Staff Edu catio n	v
Stuc ky, C. H., DeJ ong, M. J., & Rodr igue z, J. A. (202 0).	Desc ripti ve			Practi ce Guide lines		V I I
Wal den Univ ersit y, 2021			Desc ripti ve	Strate gic guidel ines	Miss ion and visio n state ment of Wal den Univ ersit y	V I I
Wea ver, B., Kno x,		Desc ripti ve stud y	Desc ripti ve		Nurs es must be awar	I V

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e v i d e n c e
K., & McP hers on, S. (201 9).		that exa mine d the attit udes and perc eptio ns of nurs es abou t EBP			e of how com forta ble they are with rese arch and the impl eme ntati on of EBP	
Wei ss, M. E., Bob ay, K. L., Joha ntge n, M., & Shir ey, M. R. (201 8).		Desc ribe a mod el and meth ods for hosp itals and healt h syste ms to use in expa ndin g their nursi	Desc ripti ve	Qualit y Impro veme nt	Mod el for impl eme ntati on of nursi ng rese arch prog rams for hosp itals to stud y trans latio n of evid	V I I

Refe renc e	The oreti cal conc eptu al fram ewor k	Rese arch ques tions (s) hypo thesi s	Rese arch meth odol ogy	Analy sis & result s	Con clusi ons	G r a d i n g t h e v i d e n c e
		ng rese arch activ ities.			ence - base d pract ice	
Wilk inso n, S. A., Hug hes, E., Moir , J., Jobb er, C., & Ack erie, A. (201 8).	Desc ripti ve	Expl ains nutri tion desi gn for best clini cal pract ices		Descr iptive	Nutr ition al Desi gn/G uidel ines	V I I
Will iams , B., Peril lo, S., & Bro wn, T. (201 5).	Desc ripti ve		Scop ing Revi ew		Iden tifies how wor kloa d, non- supp ortiv e peer s/ma nage ment , lack of reso urce s. Lack of auth ority to chan	I V

RNs to com mit to conti nuin g g	m guid eline s for Doct or of Nurs ing Prac tices Expl orati on of the them e that RNs are resp onsi ble for	ve
RNs to com mit to conti nuin g	m guid eline s for Doct or of Nurs ing Prac tices Expl orati on of the them e that RNs are resp onsi ble for	ve

Refe	The	Rese	Rese	Analy	Con	G
renc	oreti	arch	arch	sis &	clusi	r
e	cal	ques	meth	result	ons	a
	conc	tions	odol	s		d
	eptu	(s)	ogy			i
	al	hypo				n
	fram	thesi				g
	ewor	s				t
	k					h
						е
						е
						v
						i
						d
						е
						n
						с
						е
					ressi	
					on	
					from	
					dipl	
					oma	
					RN	
					to	
					BSN	
					and	
					to	
					attai	
					n	
					spec	
					ialty	
					certi	
					ficat	
					ion	
					1011	
L		1				

Fineout-Overholt, E., Melnyk, B. M., Stillwell, S. B., & Williamson, K. M. (2010). Critical

appraisal of the evidence: Part 1. An introduction to gathering, evaluating, and recording the evidence. American Journal of Nursing, 110 (7), 47-49

Appendix C: Curriculum Plan

Title of Project: Stellar Practice at the Bedside: Expanding Evidence-based Clinical Integration **Student:**

Problem: The problem identified for this DNP project is the lack of RNs in implementing evidence-based practice at the bedside

Purpose: The purpose of this CEEBP project is to fill the gap in practice through the planning, implementation, and evaluation of an evidence-based continuing education (CEEBP) program on evidence-based practice for nurses who provide patient care at the bedside.

Practice Focused Question(s):

What evidence from the literature supports the use of evidence-based research by nurses at the patient bedside? Will there be a change in knowledge on evidence-based practice from pretest to posttest upon implementation of the educational program?

Objective Number and Statement	Detailed content outline	Evidence (from Literature Review Matrix)	Method of presentin g	Met hod of eval uati on P/P Ite m
1. Define evidence-based practice	"the conscientious, explicit and judicious use of current best research-based evidence when making decisions about the care of individual patients" (Gray, 2017)	Gray, J.R., Grove, S. K., & Sutherland, S. (2017). Burns and Grove's The practice of nursing research: Appraisal, synthesis, and generation of evidence. St. Louis, MO: Elsevier Publishing	Verbal presentat ion	2
2. Discuss the components of evidence-based practice	 Identify a clinical/nursing and/or quality improvement issue Gather additional information Formulation of new practice/policy change 	Gray, J.R., Grove, S. K., & Sutherland, S. (2017). Burns and Grove's The practice of nursing research: Appraisal, synthesis, and generation of evidence. St. Louis, MO: Elsevier Publishing	Verbal presentat ion	2, 4. 5. 6
3. Explain the elements of the evidence-based practice research models	 Advancing Research and Clinical Practice through Close Collaboration (ARCC C) Model Evidenced-Based Practice Improvement (EBPI) Model 	Lloyd, S. T., D'Errico, E., Bristol, S. T. (2016). Use of the Iowa Model of Research in Practice as a Curriculum Framework for Doctor of Nursing Practice (DNP) Project Completion. <i>Nursing</i> <i>Education</i>	Verbal presentat ion	5, 7, 10, 11, 12. 13

	 Clinical Microsystems Model (Lloyd et al., 2016) Iowa Model, also known as the Iowa Model Collaborative, is a 	Perspectives, 37(1), 51- 53 Melnyk, B.M., & Fineout- Overholt, E. (2019). Evidence-based practice in nursing and healthcare: A guide to best practice, (4 th ed.).		
	step-by-step directional tool to guide clinicians through the decision-making process when engaging clinical inquiry and/or quality improvement activities (Melnyk et al., 2019)	Wolters Kluwer Publishing.		
4. Identify barriers to evidence-based practices	The knowledge deficit within the general nursing profession is the result of constant barriers. Barriers that have created this knowledge deficit have been identified as lack of support from institutional and facility leaders, lack of financial resources and the lack of time	Aljezawi, M., Al Qadire, M., Alhajjy, M.H., Tawalbeh, L. I., Alamery, A. H., Aloush, S., ALBashtawy, M. (2019). Barriers to integrating research into clinical practice. Journal of Nursing Care Quality, 34(3), E7-E11.	Verbal presentat ion	14
5. Discuss strategies to expand evidence-based practices	The engagement of various activities to access, and study evidence- based strategies will promote the likelihood of implementatio n at the	Spruce, L. (2015). Back to basics: Implementing evidence-based practice. Association of periOperative Registered Nurses, 101(1), 106-112.	Verbal presentat ion	15

bedside in		
patient care		

Moon/August 2019

Appendix D: Curriculum Plan Evaluation by Content Experts

Date:

Student: Reviewer:

Products for Review: Curriculum Plan, Complete Curriculum Content, Literature Review Matrix

Instructions: Please review each objective related to the curriculum plan, content and matrix. The answer will be a met or not met with comments if there is a problem understanding the content or if the content does not speak to the objective.

Objective	Objective	Met	Not	Comment
Number	Statement		Met	
	At the			
	conclusion of			
	this			
	educational			
	experience,			
	the participant			
	will be able			
1	10: Define			
1	Define			
	evidence-			
	based practice			
2	Discuss the			
	components			
	of evidence-			
	based practice			
3	Explain the			
	elements of			
	the evidence-			
	based practice			

	research		
	models		
4	Explain the		
	elements of		
	the evidence-		
	based practice		
	research		
	models		
5	Discuss		
	strategies to		
	expand		
	evidence-		
	based		
	practices		

Moon/May 2020

Appendix E: Pretest Posttest

Stellar Practice at the Bedside: Expanding Evidence-Based Clinical Integration

Student Number:

Date:

- 1. Evidence-based practice is described by which of the following? (Gray & Grove, 2017)
 - a) explicit and judicious use of current best internet-based comments
 - b) explicit and judicious use of what has always been accepted practice at the bedside
 - c) explicit and judicious use of current best research findings when providing care *
 - d) explicit and judicious use of current comments from the anesthesiologist on-call
- 2. The definition of evidence-based practice supports best clinical practices via (Gray & Grove, 2017)
 - a) utilization of current best research-based evidence
 - b) the care of the individual
 - c) clinical decision-making
 - d) all of the above*
- 3. Evidence-based practice leads to (Woods, 2016)
 - a) longer hospitalizations
 - b) optimal patient outcomes*
 - c) higher healthcare costs
 - d) steady admission rates
- 4. The Quadruple Aim of Healthcare contains all of the following **except**: (Melnyk & Fineout-Overholt, 2019)
 - a) Improves physician success rates*
 - b) Reduces healthcare costs
 - c) Empowers clinicians
 - d) Enhances healthcare quality
- 5. What is the first step to the implementation of evidence-based practice? (Gray & Grove, 2017)
 - a) Identification of a solution
 - b) Identification of a problem/issue*
 - c) Identification of literature
 - d) Identification of a study

- 6. Why is evidence-based practice needed? (Melnyk & Fineout-Overholt, 2019)
 - a) Increase hospitalizations, increase revenue, decrease quality
 - b) Increase revenue, deliver quality care, decrease hospitalizations
 - c) Improve patient admissions, increase revenue, increase costs
 - d) Deliver quality care, improve patient outcomes, cost effectiveness*
- 7. The steps of problem identification, review of the literature, and a change in policy and/or practice lead to what part of evidence-based practice? (Poole, 2018).
 - a) Simulation
 - b) Implementation*
 - c) Coordination
 - d) Modernization
- 8. The clinician identifies the focus of any evidence-based clinical inquiry by the development of what type of question? (Melnyk & Fineout-Overholt, 2019)
 - a) Statement question
 - b) Application question
 - c) Open-ended question
 - d) PICOT question*
- 9. Implementation strategies include all of the following except (Woods, 2013)
 - a) Verbalization of evidence-based practices*
 - b) Create an environment of clinical inquiry awareness
 - c) Commit to Learning and Improving
 - d) Dissemination of information -Sharing knowledge
- 10. Once an issue/clinical problem has been identified, evidence-based models are used to: (Melnyk & Fineout-Overholt, 2019)
 - a) identify patient issues
 - b) create facility data
 - c) facilitate clinical decision-making*
 - d) none of the above
- 11. The IOWA model facilitates the (Lloyd et al., 2016)
 - a) translation of research into practice*
 - b) stagnation of new policies
 - c) creation of nursing care plans
 - d) verbal delivery of podium presentations
- 12. The IOWA Model uses a format based on (Melnyk & Fineout-Overholt, 2019)

- a) communities
- b) algorithms*
- c) preparedness
- d) numbers
- The Iowa Model begins with triggers that are identified as: (Melnyk & Fineout-Overholt, 2019)
 - a) Number-focused, problem-focused
 - b) Data-focused, number-focused
 - c) Problem-focused, knowledge-focused*
 - d) Patient-focused, number-focused
- 14. Barriers to the evidence-based practice are all of the following except: (Spruce, L. 2015)
 - a) Lack of staff development*
 - b) Lack of time
 - c) Lack of support from leadership
 - d) Lack of financial support
- 15. Strategies to overcome barriers to evidence-based practice include (Aljezawi et al., 2019)
 - a) formation of a journal club
 - b) continuing Education
 - c) oral presentations
 - d) all of the above*

Appendix F: Pretest/Posttest Content Validation by Content Experts Title of Project: Student: Respondent No. Pretest/Posttest Accompanying Packet: Curriculum Plan, Pretest/Posttest with answers, Pretest/Posttest Expert Content Validation Form

INSTRUCTIONS: Please check each item to see if the question is representative of the course objective and the correct answer is reflected in the course content.

Test Item #

1 Not Relevant __ Somewhat Relevant __ Very Relevant __ V

Comments:

2 Not Relevant Somewhat Relevant Relevant Very Relevant

Comments:

3 Not Relevant Somewhat Relevant Relevant Very Relevant

Comments:

4 Not Relevant Somewhat Relevant Relevant Very Relevant

Comments:

5 Not Relevant Somewhat Relevant Relevant Very Relevant

Comments:

6 Not Relevant ____ Somewhat Relevant ___ Very Relevant ____ Very Rele

Comments:

7 Not Relevant Somewhat Relevant Relevant	Very Relevant
Comments:	
8 Not Relevant Somewhat Relevant Relevant	Very Relevant
Comments:	
9 Not Relevant Somewhat Relevant Relevant	Very Relevant
Comments:	
10 Not Relevant Somewhat Relevant Relevant	Very Relevant
Comments:	
11 Not Relevant Somewhat Relevant Relevant	Very Relevant
Comments:	
12 Not RelevantSomewhat RelevantRelevant	Very Relevant
Comments:	
13 Not RelevantSomewhat RelevantRelevant	Very Relevant
Comments:	
14 Not RelevantSomewhat Relevant Relevant	Very Relevant
Comments:	
15 Not Relevant Somewhat Relevant Relevant	Very Relevant
Comments:	
Moon/August 2019	

Appendix G. Pre/Posttest Content Expert Validity Index Scale Analysis

Rating on X-Items Scale by Three Experts on a 4-point Likert Scale

1	2			
	2	3	rating	CVI

Total

Appendix H: Staff Education Program



Objectives

- Define evidence-based practice
- Discuss the components of evidence based practice
- Explain the elements of the IOWA model
- Identify barriers to evidence based inquiry
- Discuss strategies to expand evidence practices
- Summary Project Justification

In the Beginning

- Dr. David Sackett
- Evidence- based Medicine
- Evidence- based Practice

(Polit & Beck 2017, Wallen et al., 2010)

What is Evidence -based Research?

"The process of shared decision making between practitioner, patient, and others significant to them based on research evidence, the patient's experiences and preferences, clinical expertise or knowhow, and other robust sources of information"(Polit and Beck 2017)

Evidence -based Clinical Practice (EBP)

"...the conscientious, explicit and judicious use of current best research based evidence when making decisions about the care of individual patients" (Gray, 2014)

Components of Evidence -based Clinical Practice

- Utilization of current best research based evidence
- Clinical decision-making
- Overall care of the individual
- Interdisciplinary collaboration

What is the Need for EBP?

- Gold Standard
- Optimal Outcomes
- Cost effective
- Quadruple Aim of Healthcare





Step 1 – The PICOT Question

PICOT Question

- P Population
- I Intervention
- C Comparison
- O Outcomes
- T Time

Step 2 - Creating the Journey: EBP Clinical Inquiry Models

- ARCCC Model (Melnyk et al., 2017) collaboration
- EBPI Model (Levin et al., 2010) incorporates Plan, Do, Study, Act
- Clinical Microsystems Model (Thies & Ayers, 2007) quality improvement
- The Johns Hopkins Nursing Evidence-Based Practice Model (Melnyk & Fineout-Overholt, 2019) supports clinical inquiry for nursing practice
- The Iowa Model (Melnyk & Fineout-Overholt, 2019) Uses an algorithm



EBP Model

The IOWA Model - Triggers

Problem-Focused Knowledge-Focused

Used/reprinted with permission from the University of Iowa Hospitals and Clinics, copyright 2015. For permission to use or reproduce, please contact theUniversity of Iowa

Hospitals and Clinics at 19-384-9098.





Where to Look?: Computer Literature Searches

- PubMed
- ProQuest
- CINHAHL
- Joanna Briggs Institute
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC)
- National Institutes of Health (NIH)

Barriers to EBP Inquiry/Implementation

- Organizational challenges
- Peer resistance to change
- Perceived lack of authority to make a change
- Lack of resources
- Workload challenges

Strategies to Expand Evidence-based Practices

- Mentoring
- Public Speaking
- Journal club

Implementation Strategies

- Create an environment of clinical inquiry awareness
- Commit to Learning and Improving
- Dissemination of information-Sharing knowledge
- Implementation

Strategies to Expand Evidence -based Practices

- Mentoring
- Public Speaking
- Journal club





Presentation

Dissemination of information at such local, state, national and international meetings and/or conferences

Study Analysis: Journal Review

- Title
- Summary
- Abstract
- Introduction
- Research methodology/Conceptual framework

Study Analysis: Journal Review (cont'd)

- Method
 - Design
 - Population/participants
 - Data analysis
 - Results
- Discussion
- General Comments



Implementation of Strengths-based Nursing

- Agency
- Autonomy
- Structural Empowerment
- Psychological Empowerment

Goals

- Sustainability
- Patient needs
- Expand opportunities

Summary

- Evidence-based clinical practice
- Need for Evidence-based practice
- Satisfies the Quadruple Aim of Healthcare
- Barriers
- Overcoming Challenges
- Strength-based Nursing

Implementation

- CE presentation to members of Texas Association of PeriAnesthesia Nurses
- Pre-test and post-test to be administered to measure knowledge gained
- Quarterly evaluation of journal article utilizing ANA critiquing tool
- Provide 1 continuing education unit and certificate of participation in journal review

References

Abdullah, G., Rossy, D., Ploeg, J., Davies, B., Higuchi, K., Sikora, K., & Stacey, D. (2014). Measuring the effectiveness of mentoring as knowledge translation intervention for implementing empirical evidence: A systematic review. *Worldviews* on Evidence-Based Nursing, 11(5), 284-200

Gray, J.R., Grove, S. K., &Sutherland, S. (2017). Burns and Grove's The practice of nursing research: Appraisal, synthesis, and generation of evidence. St. Louis, MO: Elsevier Publishing

Gottlieb, L. N., Gottlieb, B., & Bitzas, V. (2021). Creating empowering conditions for nurses with workplace autonomy and agency: How healthcare leaders could be guided by Strengths-Based Nursing and Healthcare Leadership (SBNH-L). *Journal of Healthcare Leadership*, 13, 169-181
References

Iowa Model Collaborative. (2017). Iowa model of evidence-based practice: Revisions and validation. *Worldviews on Evidence -Based Nursing*, 14(3), 175-182. doi:10.1111/wvn.12223

Levin, R. F., Keffer, J. M., Marren, J., Vetter, M., Lauder, B., & Sobolewski, S. (2010). Evidence-based practice improvement: Merging 2 paradigms. *Journal of Nursing Care Quality*, 25 (2), 117-126. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins

Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2017).*Nursing research: Generating and assessing evidence for nursing practice, (10 th ed.)*. Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, Wolters Kluwer publishing

References

Saunders, H., & Vehvilainen-Julkunen, K. (2015). The state of readiness for evidence-based practice among nurses: An integrative review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 56, 128-140. Http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.10.018

Terry, A. J. (2018). Clinical research for the doctor of nursing practice. Burlington, MA.: Jones & Bartlett Learning

Theis, K. M., & Ayers, L. (2007). Academic microsystems: Adapting clinical microsystems as an evaluation framework foe community -based nursing education. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *46* (7), 325 - 329

Wallen, G. R., Mitchell, S. A., Melnyk, B., Fineout-Overholt, E., Miller-Davis, C., Yates, J., & Hastings, C. (2010). Implementing evidence-based practice: Effectiveness of a structured multifaceted mentorship programme. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 66 (1), 2761-2771. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2010.05442.x Appendix I: Evaluation of the Staff Education Program by Participants

State Association of PeriAnesthesia Nurses – Stellar Practices at the Bedside: Evidence-Based Clinical Integration Saturday, November 6, 2021 Evaluation Form

Use the following Likert scales to address the questions below: 1 = Low 4 =

High

Place an X in the box to rate:

Lecture 1 Title Stellar Practices at the Bedside:				
Evidence-Based Clinical Integration	1	2	3	4
Expertise of Presenter: Katherine Simpson				
Appropriateness of the Teaching Strategies				

Appropriateness of the physical facilities	1	2	3	4

Was the program free from bias?	Yes	No	(circle one)
			-

Were faculty and planner disclosures provided in the handout?

1.00	Yes	No
------	-----	----

How will the information you learned today change your practice? Overall Comments: Suggestions for future programs: Topics: Speakers

Appendix J: Content Expert Letter

August 23, 2021

Dear Content Expert:

Thank you for taking the time away from your busy schedule to evaluate my DNP presentation project entitled "Stellar Bedside Practices: Expanding Evidence-Based Clinical Integration". The following information is found in this packet. Please read the directions and complete the Evaluation of Curriculum Plan by Content Experts and the Pretest/Posttest Content Validity by Content Expert. The contents of the packet are as follows:

Literature Review Matrix Curriculum Plan Evaluation of Curriculum Plan by Content Experts Pretest Posttest Pretest Posttest Content Validity by Content Experts All materials in the packets will remain free of any n

All materials in the packets will remain free of any names. The contents of the packet will only have numbers. Each individual packet will have a number for each content expert that will be mailed to you by my colleague. A self-addressed envelope will be placed inside the packet for each content expert. After completion of all documents, please place the contents inside the self-addressed envelope to be sent back to my colleague. She will then remove the contents and place them in a new envelope with the corresponding content expert number, and they will be mailed to me. Anonymity will be assured.

Please contact me at any time if you have questions. Email: <u>Katherine.simpson@waldenu.edu.</u> <u>Cell: 859 609 0976</u> *Could you please return all materials to me by September 7, 2021*

Thank you again for your time and expertise.

Respectfully,

Jatkepine N. Simpson

Katherine D. Simpson

Date: September 9, 20 Student: Kathering D	21 Simmaan			
Objective Number and	CE	CE	CE	Average
Statement	1	2	2	Score
met'' = 1 $mot met'' = 2$	1	2	3	
1. Define evidence-	1	1	1	1
based practice				
2. Discuss the	1	1	1	1
components of				
evidence-based				
practice				
3.Explain the elements	1	1	1	1
of the evidence-				
based practice				
research models				
4. Explain the elements	1	1	1	1
of the evidence-				
based practice				
research models				
5. Discuss strategies to	1	1	1	1
expand evidence-				
based practices				

Appendix K: Curriculum Plan Evaluation by Content Experts Summary

Curriculum average score = 1

Comments: CE 1 - The curriculum covers the objectives provided. Expound and amplify some concepts. CE 2 - For Objective 1: Thorough explanation of EBP. For Objective 3: IOWA is an excellent choice in model selection.

Appendix L: Pre/Posttest Content Expert Validity Index Scale Analysis

Rating on X-Items Scale by Three Experts on a 4-point Likert Scale

Pretest/Posttest

	Expert1	Expert2	Expert3	Total Rating Iter
Item		CE1	CE2	CE3 I-CVI
	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1
	1	0	1	.67
	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1
	1	0	1	.67
	1	1	1	1
	1	1	1	1
0	1	1	1	1
1	1	1	1	1
2	1	1	1	1
3	1	1	1	1
4	1	1	1	1
5	1	1	1	1
Total		1	0.87	1 14.34

S-CVI = .96

The pretest/posttest consisted of 15 items. The I-CVI = 14.34. Therefore, the S-CVI/the number of items = 0.96. I-CVI, item-level content validity index. S-CVI/UA, scale-level content validity index, universal agreement calculation method Adopted from Polit, D. F., & Beck, C. T. (2006).

Participan	Pretest	Posttest	Differenc	Percentag
t	# of	# of	e in # of	e
	correct	correct	correct	
	items	items	items	
	Score	Score		
1	12	11	-1	-9%
2	14	11	-3	-22%
3	9	15	6	67%
5	11	14	3	25%
6	11	11	0	0
10	13	13	0	0
11	12	15	3	25%
13	9	12	3	33%
17	9	10	1	12%
18	13	14	1	7%
19	10	10	0	0
20	13	13	0	0
21	10	14	4	39%
23	11	11	0	0
Total	157 Averag e 11.2 75%	174 Averag e 12.4 83%		8% difference from pretest to posttest

Appendix M: Pretest/Posttest Change in Knowledge Results by Participants

Item Number	1	2	3	4			
1. Lecture			1	13			
presentation:							
Stellar Practices at							
the Bedside:							
Evidence-Based							
Clinical							
Integration	Integration						
2. Expertise of the				10			
Presenter:							
3. Were the				10			
Teaching strategies							
appropriate for the							
presentation?							
4. Were the				10			
physical facilities							
appropriate for the							
presentation?							
Yes No							
5. Was the 13 1							
program							
free from bias?							
Yes	es						
or No?	or No?						
	Yes No						
6. Were faculty	6. Were faculty 14						
and planner							
disclosures							
provided in the							
handouts?							
Comments:" More k	nowledge on th	e process of ide	ntifying a prob	lem/issue"			
"Understanding each	n step in the imp	plementation of	EBP. Seek opp	ortunity to			
use information lea	rned. "						
"I learned the impor	rtance of EBP re	esearch in order	to provide bett	er care"			
"Use in daily practic	ce."						
"This will help me t question or need."	to know how to	start and imple	ment a research	based EBP			
"Use at my unit leve	el."						
"Already awareus	sing EBP."						
"Planning on using	this through uni	it education."					
"Initiate EBP projects. Excellent presentation."							

Appendix N: Summary of the Evaluation of the Staff Education Program by Participants

CRITERIA	INSTRUCTIONS	THEMES
I. Content expert approach	Please describe the effectiveness (or not) of this project in terms of communication, and desired outcomes etc.	Effective education tool for RNs to implement evidence-based practice.
	How do you feel about your involvement as a content expert member for this project?	Enjoyment in the experience of participation in the project.
	What aspects of the content expert process would you like to see improved?	Easy process and better clarification of the problem to the reader. One content expert had no comment.
II. There were outcome products involved in this project including an educational curriculum and pre/ posttest	Describe your involvement in participating in the development/approval of the products.	Involvement to determine the relevancy of the information
	Share how you might have liked to have participated in another way in developing/approving the products.	Two content experts' involvement was adequate, third content expert wanted earlier project involvement.
III. The role of the student was to be the leader of the project.	As a leader how did the student direct you to meet the project goals?	Ample time and instruction were provided
	How did the leader support you in meeting the project goals?	Confident leadership was demonstrated; One

Appendix O: Summary Evaluation of the Staff Education Project by CEs

	content expert had no comment.
IV. Please offer suggestions for improvement.	A new learning experience as well as describe more safety measures for presentation. One content expert offered no comment.